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other names/site number:

2. . Location N

street & number: 108 Main Street not for publication NA

city or town: Sumner vicinity _NA__

state: Mississippi code: MS county: Tallahatchie code: 135  zip code: 38957

3. State/Federal Agency Certification e e

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that
|this __x__ nomination request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for

| registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property _ x__ meets ___ does not meet the
National Register Criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant _x__ nationally ____ statewide
| locally. (__._See continuation sheet for additional comments.)
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| Signature of certifying official Date
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State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National Register criteria. (___ See continuation
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Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

4. National Park Service Certificatiom

1, herply certify that this property is: d/"r Sig/(ua/tk;f tl:/l?)m\ Date of Action é

_Y entered in the National Register, [/ P / /
___‘See continuation sheet. ¢ / ’ (M =< 0 7

____determined eligible for the - v ~
National Register

____See continuation sheet.

_____ determined not eligible for the
National Register

_____removed from the National Register

_____other (explain):




5. Classification

Ownership of Property: Public-local

Category of Property: Building

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)
NA .

Number of Resources within Property:
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
1 buildings
sites
structures
objects
1 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register None

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions: Government-courthouse

Current Functions: Government-courthouse

7. Description

Architectural Classification(s): Late Victorian, Richardsonian Romanesque

Materials:
foundation: stone
roof: asphalt shingle
walls: brick

other

Narrative Description:

See Continuation Sheets



8.  Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
X A Property is associated with events that
have made a significant contribution to
the broad patterns of our history.
B Property is associated with the lives of
persons significant in our past.
X Cc Property embodies the distinctive
characteristics of a type, period, or method
of construction or represents the work of a
master, or possesses high artistic values, or
represents a significant and distinguishable
entity whose components lack individual
distinction.
D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations:

Propenty is:

owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

. - removed from its original location.
_Cc a birthplace or a grave.
__ Db a cemetery.
_E a reconstructed building, object,or structure.
__F a commemorative property.
G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.
Narrative Statement of Significance: See continuation sheets.

Areas of Significance
Politics/Government; Ethnic
Heritage/Black; Architecture

Period of Significance
1910-1956

Significant Dates
1955

Significant Person(s)
Cultural Affiliation(s)
Architect/Builder

Hull, W. S., architect ; F. B. Hull
Construction Company, builder

9, Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography See continuation sheet.

Previous documentation on file (NPS) Primary Location of Additional Data

___preliminary determination of individual listing _X_ State Historic Preservation Office
(36 CFR 67) has been requested. Other State agency

____ previously listed in the National Register
____ previously determined eligible by the National Register

Federal agency
Local government

. designated a National Historic Landmark —_ University
___recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey ____Other
# Name of repository:

____recorded by Historic American Engineering Record
#




10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property: Less than one

UTM References: Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
A 15 T43040 3761800 C
B D

___ See continuation sheet.

Verbal Boundary Description See continuation sheet.

Boundary Justification: See continuation sheet.

11. Form Prepared By

nameftitie: William M. Gatlin, Architectural Historian

organization: Mississippi Department of Archives and History date: December 31, 2006
street & number: P.O. Box 571 telephone: 601-576-6940
city ortown:  Jackson state: MS zip code: 39201
Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets
Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
A sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.
Photographs _
Representative black and white photographs of the property.
Additional items (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner(s)

name: Tallahatchie County Board of Supervisors

street & number: P.O. Box 180 telephone:

city or town:  Sumner state: MS Zip code: 38957
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Summary

The Tallahatchie County Second District Courthouse occupies the block in downtown Sumner,
Mississippi, bounded by N. Court Street, E. Court Street, S. Court Street and W. Court Street. Built in
1910 in the Richardsonian Romanesque style, the two-story rectangular brick structure has a four story
tower on the northwest corner capped by a pyramidal roof and two story towers on the remaining three
comners, also capped by pyramidal roofs. The main structure has a hipped roof. There are rounded arched
windows on the second floor and trabiated windows on the first floor on all facades. Decorative brick and
concrete work is present in the form of corbelled arches, window surrounds, arched openings, and band
courses.

Exterior

The building faces north with the main entrance centered in the main pavilion of the building. A
four story tower is located on the west side of the building. The tower has a pyramidal roof capped with a
metal pinnacle over a plain brick face occupied by a clock. A wide wooden cornice with dentils runs
around the four faces of the tower, over an open rounded arch with a concrete keystone and brick
molding. Concrete band courses visually divide the floors of the tower. A line of corbelled arches
constructed of brick and outlined in concrete run over the second floor which contains a Palladian-
influenced window that sits on a stone lintel over three rectangular windows, while there are two rounded
arched windows with decorative brick mouldings on the first floor. The glass has been replaced on all
windows with single sheets of tinted glass. The ground floor of the tower presents a plain brick face over
a foundation of rusticated stones.

The face of the main pavilion of the building slightly projects from the corner towers. A massive
wall gable is broken by a small arched window over a concrete band course with brick dentils. Four
arched windows are evenly spaced along the second floor, each with decorative brick mouldings.
Concrete band courses visually divide the floors. The main entrance is under a rounded brick arch flanked
by trabiated windows with concrete keystones and concrete sills. The building sits on a foundation of
rusticated stones. Brick stairs provide access to the recessed entry which is guarded by cast iron gates.
The floor of the entry is brick. To the left, a simple wooden door provides access to the chancery clerk’s
office. The right is open to a dogleg stair in the tower with boxed newel posts capped with balls. Entry
to the first floor is provided by double half-glazed wood doors with a transom and sidelights that appear
to be original to the building.

A two-story tower sits on the east end of the main fagade. The wooden cornice runs below a
pyramidal roof with a metal pinnacle. There are two round arched windows with decorative molding on
the second floor, which is separated from the first floor by a concrete band course. The first floor has two
trabiated windows with concrete keystones and a concrete s1ll over a plain brick wall resting on the
ashlar stone foundation.
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The east facade is symmetrical, with slightly projecting two-story towers on either end. The
towers are similar to the north face with pyramidal roofs, cornice, rounded arched windows on the
second floor and rectangular windows on the first floor. The foundation stones are not visible. The main
pavilion is capped with a hipped roof over the wide cornice. There are five rounded arch windows on the
second floor and five rectangular windows on the first floor, with the floors distinguished by a concrete
band course. Three of the first floor windows have metal shutters.

The south is also symmetrical with slightly projecting two-story towers on either end. There is an
intersecting gable on the roof. The wide cornice line continues on the fagade. There are three round arched
windows on the second floor. An arched opening leads to a recessed entry, but the doors have been
replaced by a solid wall with a rectangular window. The towers are similar to those previously described.

The west fagade has a two-story tower on the south end and the four story tower on the north
end. Both towers are similar to those described above. The main pavilion is similar to the east fagade
except in place of the southernmost windows there are half-glazed wood double doors with a transom
that opens onto a handicapped ramp.

Interior

The north doors open to a wide hallway with brick floors and high ceilings. The walls are plaster
over a bead board wainscoting. A door to the right opens to the circuit clerk’s office. A decorated metal
door, believed to be a fireproof door, opens to the chancery clerk’s office. The south end of the hall
contains an elevator. There is a short hallway leading to the west entrance containing a door to the
sheriff’s office and another fireproof door leading to the circuit clerk’s office. The chancery clerk’s office
occupies the north tower and part the first floor adjacent to the main hall and has interior metal shutters.
The tax collector’s office occupies the southeast tower.

The second floor is accessed by the stairs in the four-story tower which open to a second floor
lobby. Double doors lead into the courtroom, while a single door opens to a large conference room.
Stairs in the northwest corner of the lobby lead to the third floor tower room which contains a permanent
ladder allowing access to the clockworks and stairs to the attic.

The attic has been converted to office space, storage and two restrooms.

The courtroom occupies the major part of the second floor. There are side walls with round
arches that create an arcade on the east and west sides of the court room. The bench, jury box, witness
box and clerk’s desk are on the south end of the room and the original bar separates the well of the
courtroom from the audience benches. A hall runs from east to west behind the courtroom and can be
accessed by the elevator or a narrow stair that goes up to the attic and down to the first floor. There is
jury room with a rest room, two conference rooms and public restrooms off the hall.
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There is a small basement which has historically been used for storage. The basement is reached
by a stairway in the southwest corner of the building.

Integrity

The exterior of the Tallahatchie County Second District Courthouse retains a high degree of
integrity. The only substantial change in the exterior is replacement glass in the windows. The stairs and
rooms of the four story tower retain a high degree of integrity. Original bead board wainscoting, stair
treads and risers and baluster and stiles all remain. The first floor hall retains original bead board
wainscoting and fire proof doors. The elevator was added c. 1980. Although the second floor courtroom
was redesigned in the 1980s, the original bar and well-outline remain. Plans call for restoration of the
courtroom to its 1955 appearance. The jury room, public restrooms and rear stair configuration are
thought to be original. The third floor offices, although not historic, can be closed off to public access and
do not diminish the integrity of the structure since the attic was never open to the public.
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Summary

The Tallahatchie County Courthouse in Sumner, Mississippi is eligible for listing on the National Register
of Historic Places for local significance under Criteria A for Politics/Government since it has been the site
of local government offices and courts in western Tallahatchie County for ninety-eight years. It is also
nationally significant under the category of Ethnic Heritage/Black as the site of the trial for the Emmett
Till murder case in 1955, which made international headlines and was a pivotal moment in the Civil
Rights era. The Courthouse is also locally significant under Criteria C for architecture as an excellent
local example of Richardsonian Romanesque architecture.

History of Court House

Tallahatchie County was established by an act of the Mississippi legislature on December 23, 1833. It was
one of several counties formed from the Choctaw Cession following the Treaty of Dancing Rabbit Creek.
By an election of 1838, the county seat was set at Charleston, where court houses were constructed in
1838, 1845, 1900 and 1975.!

The Tallahatchie River divides the county in half. In the 19" century, especially in flood, the river
presented a barrier to residents in the western half of the county who needed access to county offices and
courts. Therefore, in 1902, the Mississippi legislature divided the county into two judicial districts. The
First Judicial District remained in Charleston. Voters chose Sumner as the site of the Second Judicial
District in an election that was described as “hotly contested.”

The Board of Supemsors contracted with F. B. and W.S. Hull to build a courthouse in Sumner for the
sum of $22,000.00.% The cornerstone was laid July 3, 1903, and the building was completed later that
year. However, a large fire struck downtown Sumner in September 1908 and the courthouse, among
other buildings, was destroyed. .

County officials had the foresight to insure the building and received $22,500 in insurance proceeds,
which were dedicated to the construction of a new courthouse. William S. Hull was the only architect to
submit plans and specifications and was awarded the contract and designated as supervising architect.
Hull’s design was almost a complete replica of the original courthouse, with only some minor changes on

' Bill Gurney. Mississippi’s Courthouses, Then and Now. (Ripley, MS: Old Timer Press, 1987), 146.

2 Frances Fielder, “History of Tallahatchie County Since lts Creation December 23, 1833," in A History of
Tallahatchie County, Lillie Neal Henry, ed. (Charleston, MS: Tallahatchie Chapter Daughters of the
American Revolution, 1960), 26.

3 The (Charteston, MS) Democratic Herald, September 18, 1902.
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the interior layout.* The Board of Supervisors awarded the construction contract to F. B. Hull
Construction Company, the contractors on the original courthouse. The contract price was $13,500.00.°

After another massive fire in downtown Sumner in June 1909, the Board of Supervisors modified the
contract with F. B. Hull to include fireproofing. This change resulted in litigation over the Board’s
authority to modify the contract, which delayed the construction. However, on March 4, 1910, the
supervising architect, William S. Hull, wrote the Board of Supervisors to advise them the building was
complete, met the specifications, and was “a good, safe piece of construction.”® The Board accepted the
building and ordered county offices to occupy the courthouse.

Emmett Till Murder Trial’

The September 1955 trial of J. W. Milam and Roy Bryant for the murder of Emmett Till attracted
international attention and brought over a hundred journalists to Sumner. Till, a 14 year old African
American youth from Chicago, was visiting relatives in Mississippi in the summer of 1955. On August 24,
Till and several others went to Money, Mississippi where Bryant and his wife operated a store. Although
the exact nature of what happened between Till and Carolyn Bryant may never be known, it was alleged
that Till spoke to Mrs. Bryant in a familiar manner and whistled at her. In that time and place, it was not
behavior an African-American male was expected to display toward a white woman.

Bryant’s husband, Roy, was out of town at the time. When he returned and learned of the incident, he
was angered. In the early morning hours of August 28, he and his half-brother, J. W. Milam, went to the
home of Mose Wright, Till’s great uncle. They took Till from the house and he was never seen alive
again. Both Bryant and Milam admitted kidnapping Till in order to teach him a lesson, but claimed they
later released him unharmed. After relatives reported the young man missing, Bryant and Milam were
arrested for kidnapping and held in the Greenwood jail. After authorities in LeFlore County declined to
prosecute, Tallahatchie County, where the youth’s body was found, charged the defendants. Both men
would later admit their guilt.

Emmett Till’s badly decomposed body was found in the Tallahatchie River on August 31. Mose Wright
identified the body by a ring with the initials “LT.” Just before he left Chicago, Till’s mother gave him a
ring that belonged to his deceased father, Louis Till, inscribed with the initials “L'T.” The young man had

* The (Sumner, MS) Heraid-Progiess, December 10, 1908.

% The Herald-Progress, February 9, 1909.

® The Tallahatchie Herald,

" This section is based on information contained in Christopher Metress, ed. The Lynching of Emmet Till,
(Charlottesville and London: University of Virginia Press, 2002) and Stephen J. Whitfield, A Death in the
Delta, The Story of Emmet Till. (New York: The Free Press, 1988).
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- been severely beaten, shot in the head and bound in barbed wire before being dumped in the river with a
fan from a cotton gin tied around his neck.

Till’s body was shipped back to Chicago where his mother, Mamie Bradley, decided on an open coffin.
Thousands of mourners viewed the mutilated remains. Millions more across the country saw photographs
of the body published in Jef magazine.

The trial of the accused killers began on September 19, 1955, in the Tallahatchie County Second District
Courthouse in Sumner. Over one hundred journalists were in attendance, and the details of the trial made
daily headlines in papers across the county. The major television networks arranged to have film flown to
New York nightly from a makeshift airfield in Tutwiler.

Although there were some eye witnesses, including the testimony of Mose Wright identifying Milam and
Bryant as the men who kidnapped Till from his home, much of the prosecution case was based on
circumstantial evidence. No one would testify that they had seen Milam and Bryant torture or murder the
youth. It took the all male, all white jury a mere one hour and seven minutes to return a verdict acquitting
both men.

Many historians cite the Emmett Till murder and the exoneration of his killers as the beginning of the civil
rights era. The verdict received international coverage, with most of the European press surprised and
shocked at the verdict. Till’s story inspired poets Langston Hughes and Gwendolyn Brooks, as well as
songwriter Bob Dylan, who all produced works about the incident. Many people active in the civil rights
movement were inspired by Till’s death. John Lewis later said the murder of Emmett Till “galvanized the
country. A lot of young black students in the South later on, we weren’t just sitting in for ourselves — we
‘were sitting in for Emimett Till. We weiit on Freedom Rides for Emmett Till.”*

Journalist David Halberstam called the Emmett Till murder trial “the first great media event of the civil
rights movement ™’

Richardsonian Romanesque Architecture in Mississippi

Henry Hobson Richardson is credited with a style of architecture loosely based on principles of the
Romanesque style. Richardson took the round arched openings of the Romanesque and placed them in
wide, low openings. Most Richardsonian Romanesque buildings are composed of masonry and have
broad proportions and convey a sense of massiveness, often derived from the use of different stone to
outline structural features. Windows may be arched or straight, but are often divided by stone mullions.
Corner towers, wall dormers and turrets are common features. Hobson introduced the style with his
Trinity Church in Boston, 1873-1877. It was widely copied and popular into the 1890s.

8 Metiess, 3.
 Metress, 3.
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However, Richardsonian Romanesque was never a widely used style in Mississippi. Although the reasons
may vary, the state has never had much of a tradition of building in stone. The earliest Richardsonian
buildings in Mississippi are the Aberdeen post office (NR, 1976) built in 1885-1887 and the Oxford post
office (NR, 1980) built in 1887. The Aberdeen building now houses the chancery court and clerk, while
the Oxford building hosts the city hall. The oldest courthouse in the style is the Washington County
Courthouse in Greenville, built in 1890.

The Tallahatchie County Courthouse possesses the major stylistic characteristics of the Richardsonian
Romanesque building when executed in brick. These include the broad low arch over the main entrance,
round arches on the upper windows, and the pyramidal-roofed towers. It is one of only two surviving
Richardsonian Romanesque courthouses in Mississippi and the only remaining brick Richardsonian
courthouse in this state.
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Verbal Boundary Description

All of Block E in the Town of Sumner, Tallahatchie County, Mississippi, Section 2, Township 24, Range
2w.

Boundary Justification

This is the property historically occupied by the Tallahatchie County Second District Courthouse.

Photography Log
For all photographs:

1. Tallahatchie County Second District Courthouse, Sumner, MS
2. Tallahatchie County, MS

3. William M. Gatlin, MDAH

4. 29 November 2006

5. Mississippi Department of Archives and History

Photograph No. 1:  Exterior, north facade, camera facing south

Photograph No. 2:  Exterior, east fagade, camera facing west

Photograph No. 3:  Exterior, south fagade, camera facing north

Photograph No. 4.  Exterior, west fagade, camera facing east

Photograph No. 5:  Exterior, north entrance, camera facing south

Photograph No. 6:  Interior, first floor, fire door, main hall, camera facing east
Photograph No. 7:  Interior, first floor, tower stairs, camera facing west
Photograph No. 8:  Interior, second floor, tower stairs, camera facing west
Photograph No. 9:  Interior, second loor, courtroom, camera facing southwest
Photograph No. 10: Interior, second floor, tower stairs, camera facing west
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